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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

V. Civil Action No. 04-0798 (PLF)
ALL ASSETS HELD ATBANK JULIUS,
Baer & Company, Ltd., Guernsey
Branch, account number 121128, in the )
Name of Pavlo Lazarenko &t, )

)

)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Defendantdn Rem

OPINION

This is a civil inremaction in which the Unite8tates seeks forfeiture of over
$250 million scattered throughout bank accounts located in Guernsey, Liechtenste@mibit
Switzerland and Antigua and Barbuda heUnited States alleges that this money is the
proceeds of violations afertaincriminal statutesind therefore is subject to forfeiture. Based on
recentSupreme Counprecedentegarding the extraterritorial reach of certain U.S. statutes,
Claimant Pavel Lazarenkalso knowras Pavlo Lazarenkargues that thikrfeitureactionis
an impermissibl@applicationof U.S.law to foreign conductHe seeks gartialjudgment on the
pleadingsor, in the alternativepartial summary judgmentUpon congileration of the parties’
papersthe relevant legal authoritiesnd the arguments of counsel in open court on January 25,

2017,the Court willgrant in part and deny in pdrazarenk&s motionfor partial judgment on
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the pleadings The Court concluddbat it would be inappropriate at this stage in the litigation to

consider this motion as motionfor partial summaryudgment?

|. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
The Court’s prior opinions summarize tfectual andorocedural history of this
case, starting with the criminal prosecution of Lazarenko and continuing throsigh thi

long-running civil forfeiture proceedingsee e.q, United States v. All Assets Held at Bank

Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 307 F.R.D. 249, 250-51 (D.D.C. 2014); UrStates v. All Assets Held

at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 959 F. Supp. 2d 81, 84-94 (D.D.C. 20b8ed States VAl

Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 772 F. Supp. 2d 205, 207-08 (D.D.C.20itéq

States vAIll Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 571 F. Supp. 2d 1, 3-6 (D.D.C. 2008)

(“All Assets I. In brief, Lazarenko wa% prominent Ukrainian politiciawho, with the aid of

various associates, was ‘able to acquire hundreds of millions of United States thothugh a

! The documents reviewed in connection with the pending motion incthde:

Amended Complaint (“Am. Compl.”) [Dkt. 20 laimant Pavel Lazarenko’s Verified Answer to
First Amended Verified Complaint For ForfeitureRem (“Answer”) [Dkt. 268]; Claimant

Pavel Lazarenko’s Motion for Partial Judgment on the Pleadings and Partiaa®ydudgment
(“Mot.”) [Dkt. 539]; Claimant Pavel Lazarenko’s Memorandum of Law in Support of dhdior
Patial Judgment on the Pleadings io the Alternativefor Partial Summary Judgment

(“Mem.”) [Dkt. 539-2]; United States’ Opposition to Claimant Pavel Lazarenkasavi for
Partial Judgment othe Pleadings and Partial Summary Judgment (“Opp.”) [Dkt. 599]; Claimant
Lazarenko’s Reply in Support of his Motion for Partial Judgment on the Pleadjngdhe
Alternative,for Partial Summary Judgment (“Reply”) [Dkt. 668]; Claimant Lazarenko’s
Suppkemental Brief in Suport of Motion for Partial Judgment on the Pleadingsrothe
Alternative,for Partial Summary Judgment (“Claimant’s Suppl. Br.”) [Dkt. 741]; UnitedeStat
Response to Claimant Pavel Lazarenko’s Supplement Brief in Support of Nttieartial
Judgment on the Pleadings and Partial Summary Judgment (“Pl.’s Suppl. Br.”) [Dkt. 823];
Claimant Pavel Lazarenko’s Reply in Further Sappf his Supplemental Authorities (“Suppl.
Reply”) [Dkt. 841]; Status Report Regarding Extraterritoriah&eMotion (“Claimant’s Status
Report”) [Dkt. 875]; United States’ Status Report in Response to Claimants &eaport on
Assets at Issum his Extraterritoriality Motion (“Pl.’s Status Report”) [Dkt. 885]; and Reply
Plaintiff's Status Report (“RepliReport”) [Dkt. 890].



variety of acts of fraud, extortion, bribery, misappropriation and/or embezzlecoamthitted

during the 1990s.” United States v. All Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 959 F.

Supp. 2d at 85 (quoting Am. Compl. 11 1, 10).

When Lazarenko filed a motion to dismiss this case for lack of subject matter
jurisdiction and for failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b) of the Federa 8uGvil
Procedure, he argued in part that the Court lacked jurisdiction over the alleged amdadt
SeeAll Assets | 571 F. Supp. 2d at 10 n.8, 12-13. In 2088Gourt denied Lazarenko’s
motion, briefly discussing extraterritorialityd. at 10 n.8. Lazarenko now argudatrecent
Supreme Court precedamtguiresthe Court to dismiss or narraadl of the United States’
allegedclaims. Mot. at1-2. Lazarenkdiled this motion in light of the Supreme Court’s

decisions in Morrison v. National Australi&ank Ltd, 561 U.S. 247 (2010), which announced a

new framework for determining whethefealeralstatute applies extraterritorially, and Skilling

v. UnitedStates 561 U.S. 358, 408 (2010), which held that 18 U.S.C. § 1346, the honest services

fraud statuteprohibits only briberyandkickback schemeand not conflict-ofinterest schemes
The Court permitted supplementaldfing after the Supreme Court issueddéision inRJR

Nabisco, Inc. v. European Community, 136 S. Ct. 2090, 2102 (2016), in theiSupreme

Court concluded that tHeacketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations ARtGO’) applies

extraterritoriallyin limited circumstances

A. Overview of Claims
The United States brings eight claims for forfeiture under two genergbcee
The First, Second, Third, and Fourthaiths allege direct forfeiture of criminal proceeds
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C), which provides for tleeidforfeiture of proceeds from

theviolation of certain enumeratectiminal statutes or “any offense constituting ‘specified



unlawful activity’”” as defined by 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(c)(BeeAm. Compl. 11 120-39. The

Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, and Eighth Claims allege forfeiture of property involved inymone
laundering violations pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(A), which provides for, among other
things,the forfeiture of any real or personal propenyolved in or traceable to a violation of 18
U.S.C. 88 1956 and 195BeeAm. Compl. 11 140-55The United States alleges that all
defendantsn remare subject to forfeiturenderany of the alleged claimsSeeid. 1 124, 129,

134, 139, 143, 147, 151, 155.

1. Section 981(a)(1)(C) Direct Forfeituréa{tns

The direct forfeiture claims allege that the defendant properties constitare or
derived from proceeds traceable to violations of four offenses that are consigeratie'd
unlawful activity” under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(c)(73eel8 U.S.C. 881(a)(1)C). The three
offenses for which a part of the criminal conduct allegedly occurred ldrihed States are:
interstate transportation anelceipt of property stolen or taken by fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
88 2314 and 2315 (First Claim); Hobbs Act extortion, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8 1951 (Second
Claim); and wire fraud, including property and honest services fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C
88 1343 and 1346 (Third Claim). The two foreign offenses for which direct forfeitutegsal
andauthorized by law arean offense agaiha foreign nation of extortioand an offense
against a foreign nation of bribery of a public official, or the misappropriation, treft
embezzlement of public funds by or for the benefit of a public offiliake offenses are

specificallyenumerated in 18 U.S.C. 88 1956(c)(7)(B)(ii) and (iv) (Fourth Claim).



2. Section 981(a)(1)(A) Money Laundering Forfeiture Claims

Themoney laundering claims alletfeat the defendant properties wareolved
in or traceable to money laundering transactions or attempted money laundergagtions.
The violations of money laundering law alleged in the Amendedlaint include:conduct
designed to conceal the nature, location, source, ownersltpnwol of proceeds of a specified
unlawful activity under 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) (Fifth Claim); internatiaraisportation,
transmissionor transfer of proceeds of a specified unlawful activity under 18 U.S.C.
8 1956(a)(2)(B)(i) (Sixth Claim); engaging in or attempting to engage iretapntransactions
affecting interstate or foreign commerce with more than $10,000 in proceeds off@dpeci
unlawful activity under 18 U.S.C. § 1957 (Seventh Claim); and conspiracy to engage in money
laundering under 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) (Eighth Claiifie United States alleges the same four
predicate offenses occurrimg partin the United Stateand the same foreign extortion predicate
as in its direct forfeiture claims as ads for the money laundering allegatiof®reign official
bribery, misappropriation, theft, or embezzlement, as enumerated under 18 U.S.C.

§ 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv), is not alleged as a basistf@money launderinglaims?

B. Overview ofAlleged Conduct
In the Amended Complaint, the United States alleges that the defendant properties
are traceable to four criminal schemes. See Compl. 1 1, 21-54. The schemes allege

largelyforeign conduct in which Lazarenko, through his position as a pubigabffand his

2 As the government notes, “the money laundering counts do not rely on foreign

theft, bribery, embezzlement, or misappropriation as predicates, as thoseofiere not
added” as specified unlawful activity 18 U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7)§Buntil the passage of the
Patriot Act of 2001, after the conduct charged in the [cJomplaint was complete.” Opp. at 32
n.17.



associates diverted millions of dolldos his personal useSeeg e.q, id. 11 614. The United
States allegethat some negotiations took place in the United Stdtef,14, andhatsome
corporations incorporated in the United Statesle payment® Lazarenkand his associates
id. 11 41-42.But the primary basefor theallegeddomestic conduarenumerous financial
transactionso, from, and throughhe United StatesSeeg e.q, id. 11 56, 64, 72, 74, 80, 83-84,
106, 111-13, 115There are two types of transactions allegédtransfers to or from accounts
in the United States ar{d) electronic funds transfers, or EFTs, which are routed thrau§.

financial institutions.

Il. LEGAL STANDARD

Lazarenko seeks a partjatigment on the pleadings am,the alternativepartial
summary judgmentMot. at 1. The United States argues that the Court should construe
Lazarenko’s motion as a motion for reconsideratiecause these issues were presented in
Lazarenko’s originamotion to dismisswhich the Court denied iAll Assets | Opp. at 1.The
Court will consider Lazarenko’s motion as a motion for partial judgment on the sadider
Rule 12(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, not as a motion for reconeiueraor
summary judgmentpr two reasonsFirst, although the Court discusgissues regarding
extraterritoriality inAll Assets | theSupreme Court has fundamentally changed the framework
for considemg extraterritorialiy issues. To treat the pending motion as a motion for

reconsideration would be inappropriate after the Supreme Court’s decisions iroMaerris

National Australian Bank Ltgd561 U.S. 247, and RJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Community,

136 S. Ct. 2090. Second, “summary judgmsprémature unless all the parties have ‘had a full

opportunity to conduct discovery.’Convertino v. U.S. Dep't of Justice, 684 F.3d 93, 99 (D.C.

Cir. 2012) (quotingAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 257 (1986)). The parties




submitted all btheir substantive lefing on this motion before fact discovery had closed, and
summary judgmertherefores inappropriate at this timeThe Courtwill considelazarenko’s
motion as a motion for partial judgment on the pleadings.

Rule 12(c) states that “[a]fter the pleadings are clesdualt early enough not to
delay trial— a party may move for judgment on the pleading€bd. R.Civ. P.12(c);seealso

Hill v. U.S. Dep't of Defense, 70 F. Supp. 3d 17, 19 (D.D.C. 2014). Although a motion for

judgment on the pleadings “is functionally identical to a Rule 12(b)(6) motion tossidari

failure to state a claimHill v. U.S. Dep’t of Deénse 70 F. Supp. 3d at 1@ifation omitted),

the standard undé&tule 12(c) isslightly different in terms oits focus. “The granting of a Rule
12(b) motion typically merely means that the plaintiff has failed to satisyof the procedural
prerequisites for asserting his claim for relief. A motion for judgmenhemplieadings, however,
theoretically is diected towards a determination of the suttsta merits of the
controversy . . .”. 5C CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT, ARTHURR. MILLER & MARY KAY KANE,
FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURES 1369 (3d ed. 20}.7 A court therefore grants partial
judgment if “it is clear thathe merits of the controversy can be fairly and fully decided in this
summary manner.’ld.

“To survive a motion for judgment on the pleadings, a complaint need only
provide ‘a short and plainaement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to ratief,
order to give the defedant fair notice of what . . . the claim is and the grounds upon which it

rests.” Hill v. U.S. Dep’t of Deénse 70 F. Supp. 3dt 19 (quotingBell Atl. Corp v. Twombly,

550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007j)“Detailed factual allegations’ are unnecesssmylong as the

s Because this is an remforfeiture action, Rule G of the Splemental Rules for

Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions also governs the United States’



allegations contain sufficient facts, ‘accepted as true, to state a claimdbthat is plausible on

its face.” Id. (quoting_Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)

On a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the Court construes the complaint
liberally in the plaintiff's favorand grants the plaintifthe benefit of all inferences that can be

derived from the facts allegedUnited States v. All Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co.,

Ltd., 772 F. Supp. 2d at 197 (quoting Kowal v. MCI Commc’ns Corp., 16 F.3d 1271, 1276 (D.C.

Cir. 1994)).“Nevertheless, the Court need not accept inferences drawn [ptahmiff] if those
inferences are wupported by facts alleged in the claim and answer, nor must the Court accept

the[plaintiff’s] legal conclusions.”ld. (citing Kowal v. MCI Commc’ns Corp., 16 F.3d at 1276).

As with a motion to dismisfr a failure to state a claiomder Rule 12(b)(6Yhe Gurt may
grant judgment on the pleadings only if the facts alleged in the claim and answer‘idosec

right to relief above the speculative leveBgll Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555, or fall

to “state a claim to radf that is plausible orts face’ Id. at 570.
In deciding the motiofor judgment on the pleadings, “a court may consider the
facts alleged in the complaint, documents attached to the complaint as exhittsrpoiated

by reference, and matters abuaitich the court may take judicial noticeAllen v. U.S. Dep't of

Educ., 755 F. Supp. 2d 122, 125 (D.D.C. 20tfting Abhe & Svoboda, Inc. v. Chao, 508 F.3d

1052, 1059 (D.C. Cir. 200),)seealso5C GHARLES ALAN WRIGHT, ARTHURR. MILLER & MARY

pleading requirementsSeegenerallySUPPLEMENTAL RULES FORADMIRALTY OR MARITIME
CLAIMS AND ASSETFORFEITUREACTIONS [hereinafterSUPP. R.], Rule G. The complaint must
“state suffciently detailed facts to support a reasonable belief that the governmerd afilebto
meet its burden of proof at trial,'UBP. R. G(2)(f), but “the complaint may not be dismissed on
the ground that the government did not have adequate evidenceiethiee complaint was
filed to establish the forfeitability of the propertySurp. R. G(8)(b)(ii). Lazarenko does not
dispute the Court’s determination that the United States has met its burden under Bate G
All Assets | 571 F. Supp. 2d at 16-17.



KAy KANE, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURES 1367 (3d ed. 20}7 The Court will rely on

the Amended Complaint and LazarenkBisst AmendedAnswer?

[ll. DISCUSSION
A. Determining the Extraterritorial Reach of Section 981(a)(1)(A)@&@)d
1. Extraterritoriality Analysis Pog¥lorrison
“Absent clearly expressed congressional intent to the contrary, federatithws

be construed to have only domestic application.” RJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S.

Ct. at 210((citing Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. at 255). This principle is known

as the presumption against extraterritorialiy. (citing Morrison v. Nat'| Austl. Bank Ltd., 561

U.S. at 255).When a complaint alleges conduct that occurreghale or in part abroad, ¢h
Court mustdeterminevhether “Congress has affirmatively and unmistakably” instructed that the

statue at issuepplies to foreign conductd. (citing Morrison v. Nat'| Austl. Bank Ltd., 561

U.S. at 261). “When a statute gives no clear indicatiom @xdraterritorial application, it has

none.” Morrison v. Nat'| Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. at 25BgalsoEEOC v. Arabian Am. Oil

Co., 499 U.S. 244, 248 (1991).
The Supreme Court has developed a stap framework for analyzing
extraterritoriality issues. First, the Court must ask “whether the presunagfaomst

extraterritoriality has been rebutted that is, whether the statute gives a clear, affirmative

4 At oral argument, Lazarenko suggested that his motion was limited to “essets

two, and nine.” Mot. Hr'g Tr. (Jan. 25, 2017) at 40 [Dkt. 886]. The Cuwdered the parties to
file status report#o clarify Lazarenko’s statement at oral argument and confirm “which assets
and their corresponding accounts are ‘assets one, two and nine’ and which paraghasgphs in t
Amended Complaint . . . relate to those assets.” Order (Jan. 26, 2017) at 1 [Dkt.t870]. T
Court will consider thosstatusreports only to the extent thidie reports referenqearagraphs in
the Amended Complaint. The Court will not consider facts submitted in the reportsethat a
included in thepleadings



indication that it applies extraterritorially.RJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. at

2101. Courts must address thist step ofthe extraterritoriality inquy “regardless of whether
thestatutein question regulates conduct, affords relief, or merely confers jurisdictidn.”If
the statute is not extraterritorial, then at the secondttegourt]determings] whether the case
involves a domestic application of the statute, and [dbespy looking to the statute’s ‘focus.”
Id. “If the conduct relevant to the statute’s focus occurred in the United States, thaesethe ¢
involves a permissible domestic application even if other conduct occurred abroadhéut if
conduct relevant to the focus occurred in a foreign country, then the case involves an
impermissible extraterritorial application regardless of any other cotitatooccurred in U.S.
territory.” 1d. Although the Supreme Court has noted that coypisally should start with the
first step because it may “obviate step twddcus inquiry,” courts are not precluded from
“starting at step two in appropriate casekl’at 2101n.5.

Few courts have consider#tk extraterritorial application of thavil forfeiture

statute 18 U.S.C. § 981, after Morrisorgee e.qg, United States v. Prevezon Holdings Ltd., 122

F. Supp. 3d 57 (S.D.N.Y. 2015kurthermore, the structure of the civil forfeitilsgtute presents
a threshold question of where the Court should biégextraterritoriality analysisLike the
RICO statute at issua RJR Nabisco, the civil forfeiture statute references and incorporates
other statutesSection 981(a)(1)(C) incorporatethercriminal statute —the criminal
violations that permitlirect forfeiture. Section 981(a)(1)(Ajcorporateshree money
laundering statutesvhich prohibit the money laundering of proceeds of other specified unlawful
activity, enumerated in other criminal statutes
For this reasonhe partie®ffer two potetial analytical frameworks for

determiningthe extraterritorialityssues in this case- (1) by starting with the civil forfeiture

10



provisionitself, 18 U.S.C. § 981gr (2)instead by focusing otine underlying criminal statutes
— or predicates— that subjecthe propertyto civil forfeiture In RJR Nabiscpthe Supreme
Court firstconsideredhe statute at issue, 18 U.S.C. § 1962, before turning to any incorporated
statutes. 136 S. Ct. at 210Ihe same analysis is necessary here becat8dlfS.C. § 981
rebuts the presumption against extraterritoriality by its own terms, there eeddmlook athe
underlying criminal statutedn addition, the two civil forfeiture provisions at issue here — 18
U.S.C.8 981(a)(1)(A) andC) — operate differently, so the Court must address each provision
separately.
2. Whether 18 U.S.C. § 9¢i)(1)(A) and(C)
Rebut the Presumption Against Extraterritoriality
There is no question that Congress has authorizedrtibed State$o seize
property located abroadsee28 U.S.C. § 1355. At issueere howeverjs whethetthe civil
forfeiture statute permithe United States tgeize property— in this case, money that is
derived from or traceable to crimes thdegedly were ammitted in wholeor in part abroad. As
previously notedthe Court must first determine whether the presumption against
extraterritoriality has been rebutte— that is, whether 18 U.S.C. § 98fives a clear,

affirmative indication that it applies extraterritoriallyRJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty.,

136 S. Ctat2101° The Supreme Court has instructed thadétermine whether a particular

5 The United States gues that Congress intended somthetriminal statutes at
issue in this case- wire fraud, interstate transportation and receipt of property stolen or taken
by fraud, Hobbs Act extortion, and money launderingo-apply extraterritoriallppecause these
are criminal statutes “‘which are, aslass, not logically dependent on their locality for the
government’s jurisdiction’ &cause ‘to limit their locus to the strictly territorial jurisdiction
would be greatly to curtail the scope and usefulness of the statute and leave ogen a lar
immunity for frauds” Opp. at 11 n.5 (quoting United States v. Bowman, 260 U.S. 94, 98
(1922)). The United States reads United States v. Bowman too broadgwinan the

11



statute rebuts the presumption against extraterritoriabiy;ts may look to the text, context, and

structure of the statutdd. at 2102-03seealsoMorrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.&t

265(“[C]ontext can be consulted as well.”)

The text of 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(A) a(@) provides little indicationhat the
two provisions applextraterritorially. Section 981(a)(1)(Ajtateshat any real or personal
property is subject to forfeiture to the Unit8thtes if it is “involved in &ransaction or attempted
transation in violation of section 1956, 1957, or 1960 of [Title 18], or any property traceable to
such poperty.” Section 981(a)(1)(C) statésat any real or personal property is subject to
forfeitureif it “constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable” to a violation of arextain
enumerate statuesor “any offense constituting ‘specified unlawful activity’ (as defined by
section 1956(c)(7)) Nothing in this language shava clear intent from Congress that the civil
forfeiture statute applies to conduct abroad.

The structure of Section 981, however similar to the RICO statusg issue in

RJR Nabiscplinc.v. European Community, which leads the Court to conclude that the civil

forfeiture statute applies eaterritorially in certain circumstanceth RJR Nabiscpthe
Supreme Court considered whether 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1962 (the substantive RICO statute) applies to
conduct abroad ansthetherSection 196&) (RICO's civil private right of actiopapplies to

injuries abroad. 136 S. Git2099-2100. Section 1962 prohwbitertain activities that are

Supreme Court concluded that the presumption against extraterritoriality dopplydba
criminal statuteshat “are enacted because of the rigihthe government to defend itself against
obstruction, or fraud wherever perpetrated, especially if committed byt€itiwens, officers,

or agents.” 260 U.S. at 98. AlthouBbwman“has not leen overruled or explicitly limited” by
Morrisonor any other subsequent Supreme Court decisions, courts have adhered to this
limitation, stating thaBowmanapplies only to a narrow class of statuthat “criminaliz[e]

fraud or corruption against the Wed States.”United States v. Campbgel98 F. Supp. 2d 293,
303-04 (D.D.C. 2011keealsoUnited States v. Ayesh, 762 F. Supp. 2d 832, 838 (E.D. Va.
2011).

12



conducted through a pattern of racketeeantyvity. Seel8 U.S.C. § 1962(a)-(c). Section 1961
includes all of the possible crimes “predicate act$ that can constituteacketeeringctivity

for the purposes of RICOSeel8 U.S.C. 8 1961). The Court determined that because some
RICO predicates plainly apply to at least some foraigonduct,” Section 1962 was intended to
apply and does apptp racketeering conduct abroad “to the extent that the predicates atleged i

the particular case themselves apply extraterritorialRJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty.,

136 S. Ctat2102. The Supreme Court concluded that “[t]his unique structure makes RICO the
rare statute that clearly evidences extraterritorial effect despite lackingease statement of
extraterritoriality.” Id. at 2103.

Despite its conclusion that the substantive RICO provision applies
extraterritorially the Supreme Coudeterminedhat thecivil RICO private right of action

provision, 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), mustdmalyzed separatelyRJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European

Cmty, 136 S. Ctat2106. Noting that “a private civil remedy for foreign conduct creates a
potential for international friction beyond that presented by merely iagplyS. substante law
to conduct abroad,” the Supreme Court concluded that nothing in the text or context of Section
1964(c) indicated that Corgps clearly intendeid provide for a private right of action to
individuals who suffered RICO injuries abrodd. at 2107-08.

Lazarenko argues that Section 981 is essentially the same as Section 1964(c) —
the civil RICO private right of action provision — and like Section 1964ie)text of the
Section 981 provides no indication that the civil forfeiture provision applies and was intended t
apply to conduct abroad. Claimant’s Suppl. Br. at €l@imant’s Suppl. Reply at&. The
Court disagrees. Although the text of Section 981 prownddadication that the statuégplies

abroad, the structure of the statute is samib the structure of Section 1962, the substantive

13



provision of the RICO statuteBoth statutes incorporate other criminal statutes as a means to
determine what conduct is proscribaddin the case of Section 98&hat specifiqoroperty is
subject to forfeiture.

Secton 981(a)(1)(C)ists as predicate acts the violation of specific criminal
statutes and other “specified unlawful activity” as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1956(&¢¢jion
1956(c)(7) defines specified unlawful activto include “any act or activity constituting an
offense listed in section 1961(1)” — in other wortlt&e same list of predicate crimes that the
Supreme Court determinatlowed for the extraterritorial application thie substantive RICO
provision in 18U.S.C. § 1962 Section1956(c)(7)alsoincludescertain offenses “against a
foreign nationthatnecessarilyapply to foreign conductSeel8 U.S.C. 81956(c)(7)(B). The
structure of Section 981(a)(1)(C) and the statutes that it incorpatatady indicatehat
Congress intended Section 981(a)(1)(C) to apply to some conduct aBesfRlJR Nabisco,

Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. at 2101. The Court therefore concludes that Section

981(a)(1)(Clapplies extraterritorially to the extent that the underlying criminal statute or the
specified unlawful activity applies to conduct abroad.

Section 981(a)(1)(A) directly incorporates three money laundstatgtes 18
U.S.C. 88 1956, 1957, and 1960. Sections 1956 and 1957, violations of which are alleged here,
explicitly provide for extraterritoriahpplication, with certain limitations as to their readee
18 U.S.C. 88 1956(f), 1957(heealsoinfra at15-24. The Court therefore concludes that the
structure of Section 981(a)(1)(A) also indicatestthe provision applies and was intended to
apply to conduct abroad to the extent thatconduct comes within the terms of the

extraterritorial provisions of Sectiert956 and 1957SeeRJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty.,

136 S. Ct. at 2101As theSupremeCourt noted irRJR Nabiscp“when a statute provides for

14



some extraterritorial application, the presumption against extraterritoripgtates to limit that

provisionby its terms.” Id. at 2102 (quoting Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. at

265).
The Court’'snextinquiry can be summarized in the following way: For the
money laundering claims, brought under Section 981(a)(1)(A), the Basidlready noteithat
these statiés have express extraterritorial provisions, and the Court themefstedetermine
whether the alleged conduct falvithin the extraterritorial terms of timeoney laundering
statuts. There is no need for the Court to look at the “focus” of the money laundering statutes.

SeeRJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. at 2101. For the other claims, brought

under Section 981(a)(1)(C), the Court must determine whethentlezlying criminal statute or
the speciked unlawful activityapplies extraterritorigfland if it does not, determine whether the
alleged conduct would constitute a permissible domestic application of the staliud&iby at

the statutes “focus’ Id.

B. Extraterritorial Reach of the United States’ Claims
1. Fifth, Sixth, and Eighth Claims- Money Laundering Undet8 U.S.C. § 1956

The United Statelrings three claims for relief under 18 U.S.C. § 198@sserts
thatunder 18 U.S.C. 881(a)(1)(A)the defendantgn remare propertynvolved in a transaction
or attempted transacthi@r traceable twiolations of three money laundering provisions: money
laundering, in violation of Section 1956(a)(1)(B)@&ifth Claim); international money
laundering, in violation of Section 1956(A)(B)(i) (Sixth Claim);andconspiracy to commit
money laundering, in violation of Section 1956(Bijghth Claim). SeeAm. Compl. 11 140-47,

152-55.
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Thelanguage ofi8 U.S.C. § 195@éxpresslyndicates that Congress intended for
the statuteto apply to conduct abroa&ection 1956(f) states that “[t]here is extraterritorial
jurisdiction over the conduct prohibited by this section if — (1) the condingt a Unied States
citizen or, in the case of a ndumited States citizerthe conduct occurs in part in the United
States; and (2) the transaction or series of related transactions involvesrfumusetary
instruments of a value exceeding $10,000.” There is no ditmtt) Mr. Lazarenko and his
alleged oconspirators are not U.S. etinsand(2) thetransactions or the series of related
transactions alleged in the Amended Céanp exceedb10,000 dollarsThe Court therefore
must determine whether the transactions alleged in the Amended Complaint odcupaat ih
the United State”

Lazarenko concedes thatransferfrom a forégn account to an account in a U.S.
financial institutionand atransfer fom a U.S. account to a foreifjnancial institutionoccur in

part in the United States under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(f). Reply ae8%.g, United States v.

Hawit, No. 15¢€r-0252, 2017 WL 663542, at *9 (E.D.N.Y. Feb. 17, 2017); United States v.
GalvisPenaNo. 09¢r-0025, 2012 WL 42524@t*3-4 (N.D. Ga. Feb. 9, 2012)nited States
v. Stein, No. 93r-0375, 1994 WL 285020, at *5 (E.D. La. June 23, 1994). Fuyrther
legislative history of the statutedicates that Congress intended the provision to apply to
situationswhere “a person transfers by wire the proceeds of a [cfrmi@] a bank in the United
States to a bank in a foreign country.” S. Rep. 99-44B84(1986).

Lazarenko argues, howevénatfor several of thén rem defendantshe United
States haallegedonly transactions thdpassed through a correspondent bank accounlkien
United Statesselectronic funds transfe(SEFTS’) andthatsuch transfers do not occur in part

in the United Statesnder Section 1956(f). Mem. at 28-3@. other words, Lazarenkoaintairs

16



thatanEFT is a singl€foreign transactiofrom one foreign country to anatthat desnot
occur in the United Statesdonly “momentarily pass[eghrough the U.S. banking system,”
rather than tweeparatéransactions— one transaction that enters the United States and one
transaction that exits the United Staték at 13.

The Court addressed this argumenfihAssets | See571 F. Supp. 2d at 12-13.
In his original motion talismiss Lazarenko argued thBFTs ae not transfers under 18 U.S.C.
8 1956(a)(1pr (2) because each EFT isegle transaction frora foreign bank account to
another foreign bank accoutiatonly incidentally passsthrough a U.S. financial institution.
Id. at 13. The Court rejected this argument. Based on Second Circuit precedent, the Court
concluded thator each EFTat least two transactions occurred: first, funds moved from the
originating back to the intermediary bank; then the intermediary bank wasgtetrtém funds to
the destination bank. . . . Whileg two transactions can oc@almost instantaneously,

sometimes they are separated by several’ddgs(quotingUnited States v. Daccaregé F.3d

37, 54 (2d Cir. 1993)).

Lazarenko argues thtte case on which thHeéourt relied, United States v.

Daccarettis no longer good law artbat“the Second Circuit has since limit€dccaretin the
forfeiture context.”Mem. at41; seealsoMot. Hr'g Tr. (Jan. 25, 2017) at 55 [Dkt. 88&All of

the decisiond_azarenko citeshoweverdeal with largely unrelated issueSeeMem. at 3941.°

6 In United States v. Cosme, the Second Circuit discussed a wholly unrelated part

of theDaccaretbpinion dealing with Fourth Amendment seizures and concluded that when the
government seizes a regthout a warrant from an intermediary bank under the exigent
circumstances exception, it must still get a warrant to justify an extendecesgithe res 796

F.3d 226, 235 (2d Cir. 2015). In Export-Import Bank of the United States v. Asia Pulp & Paper,
the Second Circuit held that “an EFT temporarily in the possession of an integnieth&rmay

not be garnished under the [Federal Debt Collection Procedures Act] to satidfyreent owed

by the beneficiary or originator of that EFT.” 609 F.3d 111, 122 (2d Cir. 2010). In Shipping
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The Court finds no support any ofthese three decisioffisr the propositiothatDaccaretis no
longerpersuasive authoritgn the issue presented here. The Court therefore again concludes
that EFTs are two transactionsne transaction into the United States and one transaction out of
the United State$. This conclusion, however, does not end the inquiry of whether EFTs are
conductoccurring in part in the United Statesfficientto satisfythe extraterritoriaprovision of
18 U.S.C. § 1956(f).

As the Court noted iAll Assets | Congress enactellé money laundering statute
“to criminalize the use of United States financial institutions as clearinghousesroral

money laundering and conversion into United States currency.” 571 F. Supp. 2desalsh

Corp. of India Ltd. v. Jaldhi Overseas Pte Ltd., the Second Circuit held that EFTs in the
temporary possession of an intermediary bank are not subject to attachment uadoRul
Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actexeubke
they are not the property of either the originator or the beneficiary under Ndwavw. 585
F.3d 58, 70-71 (2d Cir. 2009). Deccarettby contrast, the only question was whether the
assets were attachable while in transit as EFTs, without regard to who lugetypinterest in
the assets, an irrelevant consideration for forfeiture purpdded. 69.

! To further support his position that EFTs do not ocaupart in the United
Statesas required by Section 1956(fgpzarenko citepostMorrisondecisions in whicleFTs
have beeronsideredbut in other contextsSee e.g, United States v. Prevezon Holdings Ltd.,
122 F. Supp. 3dt 71 (concluding that a single EFT is not “sufficient to overcome the
presumption against the wire fraud statute’s extraterritorial applicati®at); Inv’'r Prot. Corp.
v. Bernard L. Madoff Inv. Sec. LLC, 513 B.R. 222, 228 n.1 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (concluding that
EFTs are not sufficient for a domestic application of section 550(a) of the Bank@qude);
Univ. Trading & Inv. Co. v. Tymoshenko, No. 11-7877, 2012 WL 6186471, at *3 (S.D.N.Y.
Dec. 12, 2012) (declining to exercise personal jurisdiction over a defendant basedsagiieRT
a “lack of clear precedéenon the issue for personal jurisdiction analysiSone of these cases is
on point. Indeed,azarenko has citeghly one case that potentially supports his conclusion that
EFTsdo not occur “in part” in the United States for purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(f). In United
States v. Lloyds TSB Bank PLC, the Court mentioned in a footnote the governmaint's “f
reliance” on EFTs to support venue under Section 1956; but — addressing the issues before it —
the Courtultimatelydetermined that the fact that EFTsay or did pass electronicaltiirough
the New York banikg system” was not relevafor forum non conveniens or subject matter
jurisdictionanalysis 639 F. Supp. 2d 314, 324 n.4 (S.D.N.Y. 2009). The Court is unpersuaded
by any ofthesedecisions because thesesas present different concerns than the question at
issue here.
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S. Rep. 99-433, at 2 (1986). Lazarenko argues, however, that EFTs are not an “abuse of the U.S.
financial system,” because the individual does not deliberately choose to have fiee pass

through a U.S. financial institution; the foreign bank decides which intermediary bark to us

Reply at 27.The fact that Lazarenko himself or one of his associates did not direcribgetr

to go through the United States does not mean that EFTs passing through the U.S. banking
systemdo not gynificantly affectinterstate and foreign commerce in the United Stafes
Lazarenkoacknowledges, U.S. dollars are “the dominant reserve currency fotehsational

financial systeni,Reply at 1, and 95 perceot “all international transfers in U.8ollarspass

through the United States EFTS' Mem. at 1. These EFTs aransferred through one of a

handful of wire payments systems in the United Statelsrepreseriillions of dollars in

transfers every dagt and throughJ.S. financialinstitutions SeeBanque Worms v.

BankAmerica, Int, 570 N.E.2d 189, 194 (N.Y. 1991) o concludethatthe money laundering

statute does not reaélirTssimply because Lazarenkamself did not choose a U.S. bank as the
correspondent or intermediate bdokhis wire transfersvould frustrate Congress’s intent to
prevent the use of U.S. financial institutions ¢ésaringhouses for criminals All Assets | 571
F. Supp. 2at12.

Lazarenkalso argues thab concluddahatan electronic funds transfer through
the United States constitutes conduct occunmnggrt in the UnitedGtatessufficient to satisfyl8
U.S.C. § 1956(f) woul@llow the United States to forfeit “proceeafsall crimes, anywhere in
the world” simply because the actarsed U.S. dodirs thawere then transferretirough the
U.S. financial system. Reply at 1. Such a conclusion, he maintains, would “exteisdjftion
to at least 330,000 daily payment orders, with an aggregate daily value of $1.450 trillioof none

which have anthing whatsoever to do with the United StateReply at 28. This is not an

19



accurate statemen€ongress limitedhe extraterritorialreach of the money laundering statutes
to crimes that involve monetary transactions derived from the proceeds ofespeclawful
activity conductedn part in the United States and involviagransaction or series of
transactions over $10,00&eel8 U.S.C. § 1956(f)Furthermorealthough the use of U.S.
currencyalone would not be sufficient under 18 U.S.C. § 1956(f), Congress is justified in
protecting U.S. financial institutions from those “seekingtbatsafety and stability of the U.S.
dollar,” who then transfer money derived from unlawful activity through ti$e fithancial

system. Opp. at 14eealsoAll Assets | 571 F. Supp. 2d at 12.h&se limitations “ens{g] that

Federal extraterritorial jurisdictios confined to significant cases” where “the interests of the
United States are involved.” S. Rep. 99-433, at 14.

Thedefinition of the term “trarection”in 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(a$ further
indication that Congress intended Section 1956 to déké&is. The statute defines a transaction
as, among other things, “a deposit, withdrawal, transfer between accounts, . . . tieany ot
payment, transfer, oretivery by,through, or to a financial institution, by whatever means
effected.” 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(c)(3) (emphasis added). This definition strongly sutjgst
Congress intended to target EFTs that merely pass through a U.S. finanittdiansh Sedion
1956. This Court therefore concludes that EFTs that pass through amanSid institution
constituteconduct that occurs in part in the United States under 18 U.S.C. § 1956.

The Court recognizebat whether an EFT is sufficiembnductfor extraterritorial
application under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(f) is a question of first impression in this Court and has not
been considered widely. Opening an accautiie United States dransferringmoney to and
from accounts in the United States is amty more substantial conduct than transferring money

through an intermediary bank’s U.S. accountthis case, the United Stateldeges that
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Lazarenko and higssociatesransferrednillions of dollarsto and from accounts in the United
States and bekeen foreign bank accourds EFTs that passed through U.S. financial institutions.
Seee.g, Am. Compl. 1 31, 34, 42-43, 50-51. In the Court’s view, this conduct is precisely
what Congress intended to prevent in enacting the money laundt&iotes— the use of U.S.
financial institutions as clearinghouses for criminal money laundehing conduct that fits well
within the statute’s requiremeat conduct that 6ccurs in part in the United Statesder
Section 1956(f).Extraterritorialjurisdiction therefore is proper under the express terms of the
statute®

The United States has alleged sufficient facts that the defendaetsare
property derived from violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1), (axi2J(h). SeeAll Assets | 571
F.Supp. 2d at 11-14geg e.g, Am. Compl. 1 31, 34, 39, 55-56, 61-64, 88, 94. The Court
therefore will deny Lazarenkomotion for judgment on the pleadinggh respect tdhe Fifth,

Sixth, aml Eighth Claimg’

8 Lazarenkalso requests that the Court require the United States to identify any

accounts that exclusively hold funds that were transferred as EFTs and th#tetrédstraint on
those accountsSeeMem. at 41. Hesks tle Court to reconsider its decision based in part on
Daccarett— that funds that passed through U.S. financial institatastFTscould be subject

to seizure. Memat 3941; seeAll Assets | 571 F. Supp. 2d at 1¥He argueshat “Daccarett . .
only permits the seizure of funds from the intermediary bank while in transit thtbadgNew

York bank, which is not what happened in Mr. Lazarenko’s case.” Mem. at 41. The Court finds
no support for this proposition in the cases on which Lazarenko relies or in any othatyauthor
As the Court noted, suped17-18, theseasesarise from patently different contexendthey

say nothingegardingwhether funds that passed through U.S. financial institutions as EFTs
could later be subject to forfeiture. The Court therefdhedeny Lazarenko’sequest to lif the
restraint on any account containing only funds that waresferred as EFTSs.

o Each money laundering claim requires that the government allege that the money
is the proceeds of “specified unlawful activity,” which is conduct prohibited bgioert
enumerated criminal statutes. 3&:U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7)TheUnited Stateargues theEFTs
are conduct that occurs in part in the United States under Section 1986Q0pp. at 32-37, but
it alsoassumes that the money laundering claims can only survive a motion for pagméjud
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2. Seventh Claim— Engaging inTransactions with # Proceeds of Money Laundering
Under 18 U.S.C. § 1957

Section 1957, which prohibits engaging an attempting to engage ia,monetary
transaction in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,00@ati&lderived
from specified unlawful activityalso contains an extraterritorial provisioBeel8 U.S.C.

§ 1957(a). An individuadiolatesSection 1957 if the offensedkes placén the United State’s.
Id. 8 1957(d)(1). But an individual also violatésction 1957(a) if the offense “takes place
outside of the United States” so longtlas defendant is arited Stateperson.Id. 8 1957(d)(2).
By statutea “United States person” includasy person within the Uted States and any

corporation organized under the laws of any state. 18 U.S.C. 8 3077(2).

on the pleadings if thaatute prohibiting the speadd unlawful activity alleged for each money
laundering claim also applies extraterritoriallyeeOpp. at 32seealsoUnited States v.
Prevezon Holdings Ltd., 122 F. Supp. 3d at 70 (concluding that the allegations of wire fraud
could not constitute spi#ed unlawful activity for a money laundering claim because the wire
fraud statute des not apply extraterritorigland the complaint did not allege “sufficiently
domestic conduct” for wire fraud). The Court is not convinced that this is correct.

As the Supreme Court has made clear, courts may consider the structure of a
statute, including references to other statutes, when determining whetharta applies
extraterritorially. SeeRJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. at 2105562ion
1956, however, includes an express extraterritorial proviss@e18 U.S.C. § 1956(f)Once a
court determines that there is clear congressional intent for the statpf@yt@alaroadit limits
the extraterritorial application to the terms of the stat@&eRJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European
Cmty. 136 S. Ct. at 210giting Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank. Ltd., 561 U.S. at 265). “Section
1956(f), which explicitly sets forth thequirements for Section 1956’s extraterritorial
application, does not indicate in any way that the underlying specified unlawutyatust
also be extraterritorial in natureUnited States v. Hawi2017 WL 663542, at *9 n.13.

Even if the Court were to adopt the approach assumed by the government and
applied in_Prevezon Holdings, the Court would still conclihdéthe United States has alleged
sufficient claims for money laundering under Sections 1956 and 1957 because the Amended
Complaint aleges proper claims for interstate transportation and receipt of promety ot
taken by fraud and foreign extortion as the specified unlawful activity of the mamegdring
claims. Seeinfra at 2527, 34-35.
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Lazarenko argues that the Court must dismiss this claim because none of the
defendantsn remis a “United Stateperson” under Section 1957(d)(2). Reply at2ahe
Court need not consider trasgumenthoweverpecause&ection 1957(d)(1) covers both wire
transfers and EFT<=irst, dthough few courthiaveconsideredvhere a monetary transaction
“takes place’'under Section 1957, the Court is satistieatttransfers taccounts in U.S.
financid institutionsand from accounts in U.S. financial institutiare monetary transactions

that “take place” in the United StateSeeUnited States v. Blaglki69 F. Supp. 2d 513, 538

(N.D. 1ll. 2006) (concluding that a traferfrom Canada to a financialstitution in Chicagos a

transaction thdtook place” in the United Stated)nited State v. Approximately

$25,829,681.80 in Funds, No. 98-2682, 1999 WL 108087@, (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 30, 1999)

(same)

Second, the Court concludes that the statute’s definition of monetary transaction
also covers EFTs. Under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1957, a monetary transaction includes any “deposit,
withdrawal, transfer, or exchange, in or affecting interstate or foreigmence, of funds or a
monetary instrument . . . by, through, or to a financial institution.” 18 U.S.C. § 1957(f)(1)
(emphasis added). This definition suggests that Section 1957 prohibitSEEvethaimerely
pass through a U.S. finaatinstitution Seealsosupraat16-21. This Countherefore
concludes that EFTs that pass through a Un&n€ial institution take plade the United States

under 18 U.S.C. § 1957(d)(1).

10 In a recent status report, Lazaremskates that there is a legal dispute between the
parties regarding whether one of Lazarenko’s associates Waitea Stateperson for purposes
of 18 U.S.C. 88 1956(h) and 1957. Reply Report at 2. Lazarenko asks the Court for guidance on
thislegal isse. Id. The Court declines to offer such guidaneeduse Lazarenko failed to
present this issue in his opening brief or at oral argument, and the United Stdtad has
opportunity to respond.
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The United States alleges numerous transactions into and out of U.S. accounts,
numerous EFT transactions that matrough U.S. financial institutions, and checks drawn on
U.S. accountsSee e.g, Am. Compl. {1 56, 64, 72, 74, 80, 83-84, 106, 111-13, These facts
are sufficiento support the Seventha@m that the defendants remare property derivefitom
or traceable to a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 195he Court therefore denies Lazareiskmotion
for judgment on the pleadingdgth respect tdhe Seventh Claim

3. First Claim— Interstate Transportaticand Receipt of Proper§tolen
or Taken by Fraud Under 18 U.S.C. 88 2314 and 2315

Before turning to the extraterritoriality analysigh respect to the First Claim
the Court addresses Lazarenko’s argument that 18 U.S.C. 88 2314 and 2315 do not apply to the
“intangible harms” asserted the Amended Complaint. Mem. at 15 nGiting Dowling v.

United States473 U.S. 207 (1985),azarenko argues that Sectsa?314 and 2315 do not apply
because the United States has alleged that Lazarenko deprived the peoplenefddknai
intangible right of hon&t servicesMem. at 15 n.9Reply at 1611. Under Lazarenko’s theory,
Sectiors 2314 and 2315, which prohilite transfer and receipt money unlawfully taken by
fraud, would not apply in any instance of honest services fraud.

In Dowling v. United Sates the Supreme Court considered whether a defendant,

who had transported phomaordsof musical performances for which he had not paid royalties,
had transportedoods that were “stoleconverted or taken by fraud for purposes of [18 U.S.C.]
§ 2314.” 473 U.Sat215-16 (internal quotation marks omitted). The Court concltludhe
had notyrelying in part on the intangible natureaapyright and other intellectual propertid.
at 216-18. It stated that Section 2314 “seems clearly to contemplate a physical identiegbetw

the items unlawfully obtained and those eventually transportedat 216.
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Lazarenko seeks to extend this conclusion to honest services fraud libeause
right of honest servicds an intangible rightSeeMem. at 15 n.9! He cites no case that stands
for the proposition that Sections 2314 and 2315 cannot apgihetproceeds dionest services
fraud and it would seem to frustrate the purpose of the statetectode an entire type of fraud
for which Congress has proed an explicit remedy. As the United Statesectlynotesthe
physical item unlawfully obtained and transported in this case is money, witschrfder both

statutes.Seel8 U.S.C. 8§ 2314, 2315eealsoUnited States v. Gilboe, 684 F.2d 235, 238

(2d Cir. 1982).

a. 18 U.S.C. § 2314

The Court next turns to the question of whether Section Bg1i4 termsapplies
extraterritorialy and,if it does not, whetheihe conductrelevant to tke statute’focus occurred
in the United StatesA person violates Section 2314 if he or she “transports, transmits, or
transfers in interstate or foreign commerce any goods, wares, merchaadigéjes or money,
of the value of $5,000 or more, knowing the same to have been stolen tedroreakerby
fraud.” 18 U.S.C. § 2314. As Lazarenko notes, Section 2314 includes gemeeal reference
to “foreign commercé which the Supreme Court has found insufficient to rebut the presumption

against extraterritorialitySeeMorrison v. Nat'l Austl. Banki td., 561 U.S. at 248 (citingEOC

v. Arabian Am. Oil Co., 499 U.S. at 2b1‘[E]ven statutes that contain broad language in their

1 Lazarenko does noely onSkilling v. United Statess61 U.S. 358, for his
argument with respect to 18 U.S.C. 88 2314 and 2815killing, the Supreme Court concluded
that schemes to defraud a victim of the intangible right of honestsegsunder the mail and
wire fraud statutes must allegebes or ki&backs. 561 U.S. at 408-09. Schemes alleging only
a conflict of interest are insufficientd. These conclusions say nothing abthe intangible
harm argumentazarenko makes here.
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definitions of ‘commerce’ that expressly refer to ‘foreign commerce’ do not applydbroa

EEOC v. Arabian Am. Oil Co., 499 U.S. at 251.

Having concluded that Section 2314 does not rebut the presumption against
extraterritoriality, the Court turns to whether the Amended Complaint alleg@sestic
application of Section 2314 by looking to the stdtufecus The text of the statute indicates
that the focus of Section 2314 is the transportation or transfer of property. Thailegtgstory
alsosupports this conclusion. In enacting 18 U.S.C. § 2314, Congress was primarily concerned

with the movement of sken property across state linéSeeDowling v. United States473 U.S.

at218-220 (discussing legislative histor}) The legislative history also suggests that Congress
intended Section 2314 to apply to both interstate transportation and transportation into and out of
the United StatesSeeH. Rep. 152, at A374 (1945) (noting that Section 2314 applies to
“transportation from one State, Territory,tbe District of Columbia to another Stateerritory,
or the District of Columbiaor to a foreign country, or from a foreign country to any State,
Territory, a the District of Columbi&). The Court therefore concludes tlla¢ focus of Section
2314 is the transportation or transfer of property. Applying Section 234#edransfers into
and out of the United States of money allegedly unlawfully takestitute a “domestic
application” of Section 2314.

The Amended Complaint alleges numeraouse transfers ird and out of the

United States, which is sufficient for @®n 2314.See eg., Am. Compl. 11 123-24lt also

12 Lazarenko argues that thecus of Sections 2314 and 23&5nore imited: the
transportation of stolen property “in order to escape the reach of law enfotcamsambered by
jurisdictional boundaries.’Reply at 8 (citinddowling v. United States, 473 U.S. at 220). The
Court is not persuaded. The Supreme Court’s extraterritoriality decisions do paterttiat
courts must narrow a statute’s focus to the precise example provided in tlailegsstory.

To do so, would ignore the broader language in the text of the statute.
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alleges numerous transfers in the form of EFTs that pass through the United S¢atesy, id.
11 56, 79-80, 97, 119n light of the Court’s determinatiothat each EFT is two separate
transactions— a transaction into an account in the United States and a transactioranut of

account inthe United States- Section 2314 also applies to EFT&eeUnited States v.

Daccarett6 F.3d at 54.Lazarenko’s arguent that EFTs are not the “focus” of Section 2314 is
beside the pointSeeReply at 7. The Court therefore will deny Lazarenko’s motion for

judgment on the pleadings with respect to the First Claim and 18 U.S.C. § 2314.

b. 18 U.S.C. § 2315

The text 18 U.S.C. § 2315 illustrates even clearer congressional intent for the
statute to apply tthe conduct allegeith the Amended Complaint. A person violates Section
2315 if he or shertceives, possessésr] concealsmore than $5,000 that hasrbssed a State
or United States boundary after being stolen, unlawfully converted, or taken, knowsagrtee
to have been stolen, unlawfully converted, or taken.” 18 U.S.C. § 2315. As notedthbove,
Amended Complaint alleges numerous wire transfers int@andf the United Statesf money
allegedly unlawfully takenSee e.g, Am. Compl. 1 123-24. Section 2315 explicitly proscribes
the conduct allegeldere concealing property that has “crossed a . . . United States boundary.”
Because the Court has concluded that each EFT cra$$&s border once upon entering a U.S.
accountand once upon exiting a U.S. account, Section 28851y applies to EFTsSeeUnited

States v. Daccaretb F.3d at 54. The Court therefore will deny Lazarenko’s motion for

judgment on the pleadings with respect to the First Claim and 18 U.S.C. §°2315.

13 Within the Supreme Court’s ératerritoriality framework, the Court’s conclusion
can be seem one of two ways. Section 2315 rebuts the presumption against extraterritoriality
because the statutory language clearly encompasses conduct that must statitstenaf the
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4. Second Claim— Hobbs Act Extortion Under 18 U.S.C. § 1951

TheHobbs Actprovides, as relevant her&/Vhoever in any way or degree
obstructs, delays, or affects commerce . . . by robbery or extortion” violatesnSE251. 18
U.S.C. § 1951(a)The statute defines commerce as “all commerce between any point in a State,
Territory, Possession, or the District of Columbia, and any point outside thdreomanerce
between points wiih the same State through any place outside such State; and all commerce
over which the United States has jurisdictiofd” § 1951(b)(3).

The United States argues that biead language of the statute and the references
to foreign commerce indate Congress’s intent f&ection 19510 apply extraterritorially.Pl.’s
Suppl. Br. at 6 Asdiscussedupraat 5-26, prior Supreme Court precedent dooms this

argument.SeeMorrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd.561 U.S. at 248; EEOC v. Arabian Am. QOil

Co., 499 U.S. at 251The United States also argues thatdfagutés prohibition of conduct that
“in any way or degreeaffects commerce indicates that the statute applieatexiirially. Pl.’s
Suppl. Br. at 6.But theword “any,” which “ordinarily connotes breadth, . . . is insufficient to

displace the presumption against extraterritorialitfRJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 136

S. Ct. at 2108. The Court therefore concludesttimtanguage of the Hobbs Adibes not rebut
the presumption against extraterritoriality must determine whether the United States alleges a
domestic application of the Hobbs Act by looking to the statute’s focus.

The United States argues that the Amended Complaint alleges a wholly domestic

application of Section 1951 because the focus of the statuteafe¢bson commerceand the

United States border. Or, as the Second Circuit has noted, “[rlegulation of conducsiimgcros
the United States borders is not regulation of extraterritorial conduct, [@inel fresumption
against extraterritorial application of United Stasgatutes does not apply to statutes that
regulate entering and exiting the United Statdsutopean Cmty. v. RJR Nabisco, Int64 F.3d
129, 140 n.7 (2d Cir. 2014), rev'd on other grounds, 136 S. Ct. 2090.
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Amended Complaint adequately allegeséiacton commerce through the varidirsancial
transaction into, out of, and through the United States. Opp. at 20-22. To stigport
proposition, the United States notes that the Supreme Coustat@sthat the Hobbs Act
“speaks in broad language, manifesting a purpose to use all the constitutionaCoogesss
has to punish interference with interstate commerce by extortion, robberystcgblwolence.”

Stirone v. United States, 361 U.S. 212, 215 (1960). Lazarenko argues that the focus of the

Hobbs Act is the extortion, which in this case, occurred abrBagly at11-12.

Lazarenko has the better of the arguméiis certainly true that the Hobbs Act
speaks in broad language to punish those affext commerceand thgurisdictional element is
a critical part of any federal statut€he Court is not convinced, however, that the effect on
commerce is the focus of the Hobbs Aétreview of the legislative history indicates that the
extortion, robberyor physicalviolencethat affected commerce was the focus of congressional
concern.In enacting the Hobbs Act

Congress was most concerned about active coercion by labor union

members.The legislative history is replete with accounts of union

members stopping farm prockitrucks to coerce farmseinto making

payments to the union. Acts of robbery and extortion involvingewice

were the primary concern of the legislatof$us, Congress was

concerned exclusively with extortion of an active nature.

James P. Fleissnd?rosecuting Public Officials Under the Hobbs Act: Inducement as an

Element of Extortion Under Color of Official Right, &2 CHI. L. Rev. 1066, 1084 (1985)

(collecting statementsom congressional reports and the CongressioeabRl) The debate in
Congress over the passage of the Hobbs Aainé-ts predecessdhe Anti-Racketeering Act
— centered on creating a law that prohibited extortion and coercion but did not include
legitimate activitiesuch asollectivebargaining whicharguably also affesttommerce.See

Evans v. United States, 504 U.S. 255, 262-63 (1992); United States v. Culbert, 435 U.S. 371, 377
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(1978);_eealsoS. Rep. No. 532, at 2 (1934; Rep.No. 1833, at 2 (1934). Consideritige
text and legislative history of the Hobbs Act, the Court concludes that the focolsgréssional
concern wa the extortion, robbery, or physical violence that the statute prohibits.

The United States has not pointed to any allegations in the Amended Complaint
indicatingthatany ofthe alleged extortionccurred in the United Statesyimhas the Court found
suchallegations SeeOpp. at 18-22. Because 18 U.S.C. § 1951 does not apply extraterritorially
and the United States has not alleged suffidiects thathe defendantsn remare the proceeds
of extortion or robbery that occurred in the United States, the Court will grant jatigméhe

pleadings to Lazarenko with respecthe Second Claim

5. Third Claim— Wire FraudUnder 18 U.S.C. §8 1343 and 1346

The wire fraud statutapplies to the transmission of communications by “wire,
radig, or television . . . in interstate or foreign commerce” in the execution of a scheme to
defraud. 18 U.S.C. § 1343. Relying on the Supreme Court’s admonifiteriisonthat “a
‘general reference to foreign commerce . . . does not defeat the presumptioh agains
extraterritoriality,” the Second Circuit has concluded that the wire fraud statute, 18 U.S.C.

8 1343, does not apply extraterritorially. European Cmty. v. RJR Nabisco, Inc., 764 F.3d 129,

141 (2d Cir. 2014), rev’d on other grounds, 136 S. Ct. 2090 (quoting Morrison v. Nat’l Austl.

Bank Ltd, 561 U.S. at 263seealsoUnited States VSidorenko, 102 F. Supp. 3d 1124, 1129

(N.D. Cal. 2015).But seeUnited States v. Georgiou, 777 F.3d 125, 137 (3d Cir. 2015) (“Section

1343 applies extraterritorially. The Court agrees that nothing in the téegislative history,

14 The Court declines to adopt the Third Circuit’'s conclusion that the wire fraud
statute applies extraterritorially. In concluding that the wire fraud stapyiees
extraterritorially, the Third Circustated thatthe explicit statutory language indicates that it
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or context of the wire fraud statute expressly rebuts the presumption agaiasratoriality.

The Second Circuit went on to say, howetleat “[i]f domestic conduct satisfies every essential
element to prove a violation of a United States statute that does not appigratdrally, that
statute is violated even if some tugt conduct contributing to the violation occurred outside of

the United States.European Cmty. v. RJR Nabisco, Inc., 764 F.3d at Jeg&alsoRJR

Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. at 2105.

The United Statedoes not arguthat thedomesticconductalleged in this case
satisfiesevery essential element of the wire fraud stat@eeOpp. at 22-29 Rather, itargues
that the“focus” of the wire fraud state is the use of U.S. wires and that the wire fraud statute
thereforemay be used to prosecute fraud that largely occurs abroaat 23-24. Under the
United States’ theoryg domestic applicatioof the wire fraud statute requiresly the use of
U.S. wiresno matter where that schemeanceived, developed, or executed. at 25-26%°
Lazarenko counterthat the schem# defraud is the focus of the wire fraud statute, and the
schemeéhereforemust occuin the United States to constitute a domestic application of the

statute. Reply at4-15 see e.q, Laydon v. Mizuho Bank, Ltd., No. 12-3149, 2015 WL

1515487, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2015).
TheCourt agreesvith Lazarenkahat the focus of the wire fraud statute is the

scheme to defraud- or more precisely, a scheme to defraud tmablves the use of U.S. wires.

punishes frauds executed in irstiate or foreign commercelJnited States v. Georgiou, 777
F.3d at 137-38. The Third Circuit’s reasoniagn tensiorthe Supreme Court’s conclusion that
a “general reference to foreign commerce . . . does not defeat the presumptian agains
extraterritoriality.” Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. at 263ealsoEEOC v.
Arabian Am. QOil Co., 499 U.S. at 251.

15 The United States relies on a number of pre-Morrison cases in support of its
argument.Seeg e.qg, United States v. Kim246 F.3d 186, 188-89 (2d Cir. 200WUnited States v.
Trapilo, 130 F.3d 547, 553 (2d Cir. 1997); United States v. Gilboe, 684 F.2d at 237-38.
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As the Suprem€ourt has noted, “Section 1343 prohibasy scheme or artifice to defraud;
fraud simpliciter, without any requirement that it be ‘in connection wahy particular

transaction or event.Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. at 272-78Bhe text of the

statute indicates that Congress intended to presgi@mes to defraud facilitated by the use of
U.S. wires. This is the conduihat the statute seeks to prohimtregulate.” _Seé. at267.

The Court does not agree with Lazarenlayéver, that the scheme to defraud must be entirely
executed in the United States to constitute a domestic application of the stateltéem. at
22-23. The Supreme Court’s extraterritorigjiframework does not require that the entire
scheme to defraudccur in the United States. The Court therefore must determine whether in
this case “conduct relevant to tsi@tute’sfocus occurred in the United States.” RJR Nabisco,

Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. at 2101.

The Court has founlittle precedent regarding how much of the scheme must
occur in the United States to constitute a domestic applicaf the wire fraud statute. @
court, howeverhas articulated a workablest for what relevant conduct must occur in the
United State$or there to be domestic application of tlemilarly worded maifraud statute, 18

U.S.C. § 1341.n Elsevier, Inc. v. Grossmadudge Katherine Polk Failtd theU.S. District

Courtfor the Soutlkrn District of New Yorkexplainedthe nature of the “domestic conduct” that
she considered “relevant” to the statutory focus of the mail fraud statude, fewer than all of
the essential elements of theneei occur in the United States

[A] defendant commits conduct “relevant” to the focus of the mail fraud

statute only when(i) the defendant commits a substantial amount of

conduct in the United States; and (ii) the conduct is integral to the

commission of a fraud, and (iii) at least soofi¢he conduct involves the
use of the U.S. mails.
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199 F. Supp. 3d 768, 784 (S.D.N.Y. 201@his test accurately reflects the focus of
congessional concern(l) preventing schemes to defratimough the use of U.S. wires and
(2) allowingthe wire fiaud statutéo apply to the use of U.S. wires to send a communication
between the United States and a foreign coureeS. Rep. No. 1873, at 2; H. Rep. No. 2385,
at 1. The Court therefore concludes that a complaint alleges a domestic application fodud
when (1) a defendant or coconspirator commits a substantial amount of conduct in tde Unite
States, (2) the conduct is integral to the commission of the scheme to defraud,ahelaS)
some of the conduct involves the use of U.S. windartherance of the scheme to defraud
TheUnited States alleges that ware fraud claim(the Third Claim) applies to all
of the schemealleged in its Amended ComplainBeeOpp. at 46-48, 50, 54-56. But applying
the Elseviermnalysis to each of the alleged schemsesinfra at 36-44, the Court concludes that
the UnitedStates has failed to allegefficient domestic conduct to support a domestic claim for
wire fraud. The Court will grant judgment on the pleadingd.azareko with respect to the

Third Claim for relief'®

16 Lazarenko also argues thaetbourt must dismiss the Third Claim because
(1) the Amended Complaint fails to allege bribes or kickbacks, as requirddlingS. United
States561 U.S. at 399-414, and (2) the honest services $taake 18 U.S.C. § 1346, does not
apply extraterritorially. Mem. at 228. Contrary to Lazarenko’s assertion, the Court concludes
— when taking all reasonable inferences in favor of the United Statést the United States in
its Amended Complaint Isssufficiently allegel that Lazarenko received bribes or kickbacks.
SeeAm. Compl. 11 24, 30, 35-44.

With respect to Lazarenko’s second argument, Section 1346 is a definitional
statute related to 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1343, the wire fraud statute; it is npatesubstantive statute.
Section 1346 states that “the terschieme or artifice to defraujdor the purposes of 18 U.S.C.

§ 1343] includes a scheme or artifice to deprive another of the intangible right of honest
services. 18 U.S.C. § 1346Because a claim for honest services fraud rbedirought under

18 U.S.C. 88 1343s wel| any claim for honest services fraud would also need to allege a proper
domestic application dhe wire fraud statuteThe Courthereforeneed not analyze the
extraterriorial reach of Section 1346 separately.
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6. Fourth Claim —oreign Offensebnder 18 U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7)(B)(ii) and (iv)

Claim Four alleges offensagainst a foreign nation, specificaéiyxtortion and
“bribery of a public official, or the misappropriation, theft, or embezzlement of pluids by
or for the benefit of a public official.” 18 U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7){iB)(iv). Section 1956(c)(7)(B
requires that the financial transacgamlating to the foreign offensescur “in whole oiin part
in the United States,” which is consistent with the general extraterrippagision in Section
1956(f). Seel8 U.S.C. § 1956(f)Lazarenko egues that the Court must limit this clatmonly
financial transactioninto and out of accounts ingt United States becayse his view,EFTs do
not “occur” in part in the United StateSeeMot. at 13; Mem at 2831. The Court has already
addressed angjected thisrgument.Seesupraat 16-22.

In his reply brief, Lazarenko mak®agso new arguments with respectthe Fourth
Claim. First he argues thahe Court must dismigbe Fourth Clainbecause th&nited States
has failed to “establish all the elements of a complete [specified unlawful gctivikgply at 19.
Specifically, he argues that tHénited StateScannot meet [its] burden because it can neither
show that venue would lie anywhere in the United States for a criminal prosecutienniogc
EFT transfers, mathat personal jurisdiction would have existed over Mr. Lazarenkb.”
Second, Lazarenko argues thatltheted Statesmproperly brought the Fourth Claim under 18
U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and must britigs claim under a different civil forfeiture provision, 18
U.S.C. §981(a)(1)(B), which is limited toreslocated in the United Statesd. at20-21.

The Court generally refusdo entertain arguments raised for the first time in a

reply brief because it is “manifestly unfair” to the nonmoving party. Hexbédat'l| Acad. ¢

Scis, 974 F.2d 192, 196 (D.C. Cir. 1992). Nevertheless, the Court may easily dismie$ both

Lazarenko’s nevarguments. A$or his first argument, Lazarenko has provided no support —
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and this Court has found none — for the propositinat the United Statesbmplaint in a civil
forfeiture action must also allege proper personal jurisdiction and proper venue for the
underlying specified unlawful activity. The Unied States establishedbject matter
jurisdictionandin remjurisdictionin this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1355(h)(2). See

United States v. All Funds in Account Nos. 747.034/278, 747.009/278, & 747.714/278 in Banco

Espanol de Credito, Spain, 295 F.3d 23, 26-27 (D.C. Cir. 2008).United Statealsoproperly

established venue pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1355(bE2¢United States v. All Funds in

Account Nos. 747.034/278, 747.009/278, & 747.714/278 in Banco Espanol de Credito, Spain,

141 F. Supp. 2d 548, 550 (D.D.C. 20Qdff.d, 295 F.3d 23.

As for Lazarenko’s second argument,rhaintains that th&nited States must
bring this claimunder a differenprovision of thecivil forfeiture statute— 18 U.S.C.
8§ 981a)(1)(B)— which islimited toa reslocated in the United StateReply at 20. In support
of this proposition, Lazarenko notes that Section 981(a)(EXBIcitly mentionsoffenses
“against a foreign nation,” and Section 981(a)(1)(C) doesIdotA plain reading of the text of
the civil forfeiture statute shows this argument lacks meritBoth Section 981(a)(1)(Band
Section 981(a)(1)(C) permit forfeituad property constituting specified unlawful activity under
18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(c)(7)(B), the provisiaich detailsoffenses against foreign natiorSeel8
U.S.C. 8§ 1956(c)(7{B). The United States has discretion to bring a civil forfeiture action under
either provision. The Court therefore will deny Lazarenko’s motion for judgmehieon t

pleadings with respect to the Fourth Claim.

7 The cases cited by Lazarenko in this portion of his reply brief discuss personal

jurisdiction with regard to a civil ipersonantase, se&niv. Trading & Inv. Co. v.
Tymoshenko, 2012 WL 6186471, at,*dnd venue in a civil case by the United States against a
bank. _®eUnited States W.loyds TSB Bank PLC, 639 F. Supp. 2d 314.

35



C. Application ofthe Court’s ExtraterritorialityAnalysis to the Alleged Schemes

In its Amended Complaint, the United States allegesfmiualschemes through
whichit claimsLazarenko and his associates amassed the money subject to forfgijures
Transfer and Carealment of Business Interests ScheseeAm. Compl. {1 21-31; (2he
NaukovyAgriculture Scheme, seel. 1 32-34; (3) the UESU and ITERA Energy Scherses,
id. 71 3544; and(4) the PMH/GHP Schemeseeid. 11 4549. Lazarenko argues thtte Court
must dismiss or limit the claims with respecetach of these four schemes. Men8B89. The
Courtwill conduct its extraterritoriality analysis with respect to these allegedrsshe

For the statutes thaly their termsapply extraterritoriajl, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956 and
1957, the Couralready hasletermined that the conduct alleged falls withinlémguageof the

extraterritorial provisiosof those statutesSeesupraat 15-24, 34-35seealsoRJR Nabisco,

Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. at 2102. Having concluded that some of the statutes at issue

here do not apply extraterritorially, however, the Court must also determine nifietbenduct

alleged inthis case involvedomestic applicatiaof those statutesSeeRJR Nabisco, Inc. v.

Eurgpean Cmty, 136 S. Ct. at 2101. The Court may conduct this analysiss stage of the

litigation becaus¢he Supreme Court has stated ih& appropriate teonsider

extraterritorialityunder a Rule 12(b)(6) standarBieeMorrison v. Nat'l Austl.Bank Ltd, 561

U.S. at 253-54. The same analysis necessarily applies to a motion for judgment on thgleadi
brought under Rule 12(cSeesupraat 7-9. Consistent with the law governing Rule 12(b)(6)
and Rule 12(c), the Court will grant the Unitedt8s “the benefit of all inferensthat can be

derived from the facts allegéth its Amended Complaint)nited States v. All Assets Held at

Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 772 F. Supp. 2d at 197 (quoting Kowal v. MCI Commc’ns Corp.,

16 F.3d at 1276), but it need not accept the parties’ legal conclugtbnghe Court will limit

36



its analysis to the facts alleged in the Amended Complaint and Lazarenlsv’Afignded

Answer. Seesupraat 7-9.

1. The Transfer and Concealment of Business Integesisme

The United States alleges that “Lazarenko, by virtue of his government positions
[including when he served as First Vice Prime Minister and Prime Ministazjted influence
over the economic and governmental structuresinvitite Dnepropetrovsk regiori Okraine.”
Am. Compl. § 21.It furtheralleges that Lazarenko was able to arraieg¢he appointment of
certain individuals to regional and saovernmenpositions and steer stab@ned enterprises
“to conduct business with certain private corporations and individuklsf22. For example,
the Amended Complaint alleges thaizarenko informedéeter NikolayevickKiritchenko “that
he worked with everyone on a 50/50 percentage bakls{ 26. Mr. Kiritchenko then
transferred 50 percent of the ownership in his company, AgrosnabsbyttAlS&arenkoand
ultimately paid Lazarenkat least$30 million, some of whiclwas transferrethrough bank
accounts in the United Statelsl. 11 26, 31. Lazarenko also allegedly received a 50 percent
ownership in Dneproneft, a corporation formed by Alexei Alexandrdvitihtkovsky, also a
resident of Ukraineld. 128. The United States alleges that Ditiatkovsky paid at least $5
million dollars to Lazarenko that was transferred through accounts in thexdd(Btatesid. §29.

Lazarenko concedes thaith respect tahis scheméhe Amended Complaint
sufficiently alleges foreign extortion and bribery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1956(B)(#) and
(iv) (Fourth Claim) Mem. at 32; Reply at 30He argues, howevdhat this scheme must be
limited to defendants irem*“where the funds werdeposited into a U.S. bank account rather

than merely transited through a U.S. correspondent account.” Mem. at 32. Because this Cour
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has alreadgoncluded that EFTs occur “in part in the United States” for the purpose of the
money laundering claims, the Gbuejects Lazarenko’s argument.

Each EFT is two separate transactions that cross the U.S. bSek=mupraat
16-18, 25-27.TheEFTsand other allegkwire transfersre sufficiento allegeinterstate
transportation and receipt of property stolen or taken by fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88§ 2314
and 2315First Claim) SeeAm. Compl.{31. Thescheme alssufficiently alleges foreign
extortion and bribery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1956(c)(7)(B@ind(iv) (Fourth Claim) See
id. 71 24, 26, 28, 30Finally, the scheme sufficienthlleges violation®f themoney laundering
claimsfor transfers into and out of U.S. accounts and EFTs, in violation of 18 U.S.C 88§ 1956
and1957 (Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, and Eighth Clairhefause these transfers occurred in part in
the United StatesSeeid. 1125, 31.

The United States does not allege that any oéxtertion related to this scheme
occurred in the United States, and thus does not allege a valid claim for Hobbs Awirextor
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951 (Second Claim). Similarly, because the United States has not
alleged that a substantial amount of the scheme to defraud occurred in the Unésdtise
Amended Complaint does not allege a valid claim for wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C
88 1343 and 134T hird Claim). The Court therefore limits this scheme to the following claims
for relief. interstate transportation and receipt of property stolen or taken by Fiestd3]aim),
foreign extortion and bribery (Fourth Claim), and the money laundering claintts, iith,

Seventh, and Eighth Claims).

2. The Naukovy Agricultur&cheme
As to the NaukovyAgriculture Scheme, the United Statdleges that Lazarenko

conspired to divert Ukrainian government funds for his personal use by orchesteaiohgdnt
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sales through two statevned enterprises thae oversaw by virtue of his government position.
Am. Compl. § 32.The United States alleges that Lazarenko defrauded the Ukrainian
government of at least $2Bmillion through this schemdd. Lazarenk@acquiredthe funds
throughtransactionshat passethrough financial institutions in the United Statéd. 11 33-34.

Lazarenko concedes thaith respect to this schentiee Amended Complaint
alleges a violation of interstate transportation and receipt of property stdigken by fraud, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2314 and 231Eirst Claim) and foreigrtheft and embezzlemenih
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8956(c)(7)(B)(iv)(Fourth Claim. Mem. at 33 He argues, however,
thatthe Amended Complaint only alleges EFTs with respect to this schemdjerefore it must
be dismissedld. at32-33. As the Court previouslyas stated, EFTs are sufficidat interstate
transportation and receipt of property stolen or taken by femesupraat 25-27, and for the
money laundering claims under 18 U.S.C. 88 1956(f) and Section 1957@¥@dupraat
15-24. The Amended Complaitiiereforesufficiently alleges claim for interstate
transportation and receipt of property stolen or taken by fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2314
and 2315 (First Claim) and the money laundealagms in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 195hd
1957 (Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, and Eighth ClaimSeeAm. Compl.  34. The Amended
Complaint also sufficiently alleges the foreigffenses, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§1956(c)(7)(B)(ii) and (iv(Fourth Claim) Seeid. 11 3234.

TheUnited Statesargues thathe Amended Complairatlieges a valid claim of
wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 hird Claim), with respect tdhis scheme Se
Opp. at 47.Relying on the test set fordupraat 32-33, the Court concludes that the Amended
Complaint does ndufficiently allege that substantial conducttbé Naukovy Agriculture

Scheme occurred in the United States. Although wire transfers to reap teegsamf a scheme
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to defraud are integral to any such schemes wwansfers through the United States, without
more, are not sufficient to state a claim fatcanestic applicatio of thewire fraudstatute

In its opposition, the United States does not state that the Naukovy Agriculture
Scheme alleges a claim for Hobbs Act extortion, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951
(Second Claim). Nor does the Amended Complaint allege thabdorgion related to this
scheme occurred in the United Statéhe Court therefore limits this scheme to the following
claimsfor relief: interstate transportation and receipt of property stolen or takenuoly fra
(First Claim), foreigrextortion and hbery (Fourth Claim), and the money laundering claims

(Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, and Eighth Claims).

3. The UESU and ITERA Energy Scheme

The UESU and ITERA schemes stem from Lazarenko’s position as Vice Prime
Minister,whenhe was in charge of the energgctor in Ukraine SeeAm. Compl.  35.
Lazarenko allegedly granted various privileges to United Energy Systenksaoh& (UESU’),
which was controlled by one of his associates, Yulia Tymoshenko, and dithef¥s36. The
United States alleges thaESQU received a contract to deliver natural gas from RAO Gazprom,
and LESU would then distributéhe natural gas Ukraine. Id. Rather than BSU paying its
debts to RAO Gazprom, the United States alleges that Lazarenko “authoezetiaxof a
$200,000,000 guaranty in favor of RAO Gazprom for the delivery of natural gas by UESU,
thereby causing the Ukrainian government to pledge to use state funds tthesethts of
UESU to RAO Gazprom.” Id. UESU and other corporate entities subsequently paid Lazarenko
at leasp162million through financial transactiorisat passethroughU.S.financial

institutions. Id. 1 38-40.
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With respect tahe ITERA scheme, the United States alleges that the ITERA
corporations — which had affiliated corporatiosgch as ITERA Internation&nergy,
Corporation and ITERA International LLC, that were incorporated in the UnitgdsS—were
awarded exclusive gasstributionrights duringLazarenko’senure as Vie Prime Minister.
Am. Compl. § 41. Various ITERA corporations and Lazarenko’s associates subsemasil
payments through U.S. financial institutions to accountter Lazarenko’s personal contrddl.
1143-44. The payments totaled ménan$53million. Id. 11 4244.

Lazarenko concedes thaith respect tathe UESU schemdéhe Amended
Complaintalleges sufficient facts to support a claim for foreign bribery, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
8 1956(c)(7)(Bfiv) (Fourth Claim) SeeMem. at 3637; Am. Compl 136, 38-40. Based on
the analysis with respect to EFTs, suptrd6-18, the Court concludes that the Amended
Complaint also alleges sufficient facts to state a claim for interstate transpaatadioeceipt of
property stolen or taken by fraud,violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2314 and 23{Arst Claim) and
for themoney laundering claims, wolation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1956 and 198-fth, Sixth,
Seventh, and Eighth ClaimsgeeAm. Compl. {1 39-40.

TheHobbs Act extortion and wire frawdaims are a different matterThe
Amended Complaint does not allege a valid claim for Hobbs Act extortion, in violatil8
U.S.C. § 1951Second Claim), because the Amended Complaint does not allege that the
extortion or bribery occurred in the United Stat8geOpp. at 50.With respect to the wire
fraud claim(Third Claim), the fact that there were financial transactions through the United
States anthattwo U.S.corporations allegedly made paymeatdazarenkpin regard to the

UESU schemeglo notcorstitutesubstantial conduct in the United Stagafficientto support a
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domestic application of wire fraud. The Court therefore limits the UES&theme to the
following claimsfor relief: interstate transportation and receipt of property stolen or taken by
fraud (First Claim), foreign bribery (Fourth Claim), and the money launderingscla
(Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, and Eighth Claims).

As for the ITERA scheme, Lazarenko argues ithaiust be dismissed in fudir,
in the alternative, thahe Court should grant summary judgment in his favor. Mem. at 37-38.
He asks the Court to look outside of the pleadings so that he may illustrate that tieere is
genuinedispute of material fadchatU.S-based ITERA International Energyd notmake
payments to Lazarenko from the United StagegReply at 33, and thiT ERA International
Energy made payments ority merchandise, not bribese&Vem. at 37; Reply at 33The
Courtdeclinesto consider this motion as a summary judgment motion because the parties

submitted briefing before discovemas closed. Sesupraat 6-7.1°

18 The parties also dispute whether the Amended Complaint adequately alleges a

valid claim for honest servicdésaudfor this £heme SeeMem. at 3437; Opp. at 50-51.
Lazarenko argues that there are three separate allegations regarding thechiéisél s
(1) non-disclosure of a conflict of interest, (2) gprd quo foreign bribery in regard to the
guaranty in favor of RAO Gazprom, and (3) fraudulent titling of natural gas tHatUWéceived
from RAO Gazprom. Mem. at 34-3éeealsoAm. Compl. 9 3537. Lazarenko argues that
only the guaranty allegation is sufficient fekilling’s requirement that honest services fraud
must dlege bribes or kickbackdVlem. at 3435. In addition, Lazarenko asks t@eurt to limit
the UESU scheme based on arguments made by the government in Lazarenkéd crimi
proceeding and the district court’s findings about the UESU scheme in a 2008:gatding
Rule 29 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedude at 35. Because the Court haeady
determined thathe wire fraud statute does not apply extraterritorially and that thendexdle
Complaint does not state a claim for a domestic application of the wire fraud steu@aurt
need not addreskese arguments.

19 Lazarenko also asks the Court to make 13 findings ofrfiictrespecto the
ITERA Scheme._Se€laimant Pavel Lazarenko’s Proposed Findings of Fact at 1-2 [Dkt. 539-2].
TheUnited States oppos#ss request because Lazarenko made the request before the end of
fact discoveryand the factual recotaefore this Court is incomplet&eeUnited States’
Response to Claimant Pavel Lazarenko’s “Proposed Findings of Fact” (ECF Ng). &3D-
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Considering only the pleadings, the Carotcludes with respect to the ITERA
Schemdhatthe Amended Complairalleges sufficient facts to state a claim for foreign bribery
in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7)(B)(i¢frourth Claim)seeAm. Compl. §{ 41-42a claim
for interstate transportation and receipt of property stolen or taken byifmaddlation of 18
U.S.C. 88 2314 and 231birst Claim) seeid. 11 42-43andclaims for money laundering, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1956 and 1957 (Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, and Eighth Claieesid. S

4. The PMHGHP Scheme

The United States allegesatthazarenko used his position asnie Minister of
Ukraine to favor GHP Corporation “by ensuring that the Ukrainian Cabinet of Mssttered
into a contract with GHP Corporation for the purchase of six prefabricated homes.Cohmpl.
1 45. GHP Corporation purchased the homes from Pacific Modern Homes (“PMH"), inased i
Elk Grove, California.ld. § 46. GHP Corporation purchased the homes for $524,763, and then
GHP Corporatia agreed to sell the homesth@ Ukrainian government for $1,416,004.
11 4647. Lazarenko argues that these facts do not state a valid clammdfonestic application
of honest services fraud, 18 U.S.C. 88 1343 and 1346. Mem. ahd®nited Statesloes not
argue that the schenaieges honest servicesrd, buit maintains that there is a claim for
money angropertywire fraud, inviolation of 18 U.S.C. 8 1343SeeOpp. at 55-56. It has not
argued on this motion that any of the claims for relief other than wire fraud tapbly

PMH/GHP Scheme. Sée.

[Dkt. 595-1]. Although fact discovery has now closed, the parties have not had an apptortun
inform the Court of any further discovery since Lazarenko filed the instant mot@ecember

of 2015. It is premature for the Court to make any findings of fact in connectiorhisith t
motion. These arguments may be raisger in these proceews if appropriate.
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As the Court previously stated, a domestic violation of wire fraud reghaes
(1) the defendardr coconspiratocommits a substantial amouwftconduct in the United States,
(2) the conduct is integral to the commissiorthe scheme tdefraud and (3) at least some of
the conduct involves the use of the U.S. wirefuirtherance of the schem&eesupraat 3233.
The facts alleged with respect to the RIGHP Schemare too bag to support a claim for wire
fraud. Presumably someone had te agelephone or wire to contact the PMH alifornia, but
those facts are not even alleged here. There are also no facts alleged regagtiiag wh
Lazarenko received payments via financial transactions through U.S. institudbthsugh the
prefabricated homes were allegedhypped from California, the Cowbncludeghatthe
Amended Complaint fails to establish a domedaem for wire fiaud, in violation of 18 U.S.C.

§ 1343(Third Claim)

IV. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Cowift grant in part and deny in part
Lazarenko’s motion for partial judgment on the pleadings. An Order consistenhiwith t
Opinion will issue this same day.

SO ORDERED.

/s/
PAUL L. FRIEDMAN
United States Districiudge

DATE: April 27, 2017
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